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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT  

NORTHERN DISTRICT OF TEXAS  

DALLAS DIVISION 

 

JOHN CORLEY, INDIVIDUALLY 

AND ON BEHALF OF THOSE 

SIMILARLY SITUATED, 

 

   Plaintiff, 

 

 vs. 

 

VILLAGE GREEN HOLDING, LLC 

 

   Defendant. 

 

§ 

§ 

§ 

§ 

§ 

§ 

§ 

§ 

§ 

§ 

§ 

§ 

 

 

 

 

 

 

CIVIL ACTION NO.  _________ 

 

JURY TRIAL REQUESTED 

 

 

PLAINTIFF’S ORIGINAL COLLECTIVE ACTION COMPLAINT 

 

Plaintiff JOHN CORLEY (“Plaintiff” or “CORLEY”), on behalf of himself and others 

similarly situated (hereinafter collectively “Plaintiffs”), by and through his counsel, files this 

Original Collective Action Complaint against VILLAGE GREEN HOLDING, LLC (“Defendant” 

or “VILLAGE GREEN”), and seeks to recover for Defendant’s violations of the Fair Labor 

Standards Act of 1938 (FLSA), 29 U.S.C. §§ 201 et seq. and hereby states and alleges as follows: 

I.  INTRODUCTION 

1. This is a collective action brought pursuant to the Fair Labor Standards Act of 1938, 

29 U.S.C. §§ 201-219 (hereinafter the “FLSA”), by Plaintiff CORLEY, on behalf of himself and 

all others similarly-situated, who were formerly or are currently Service Managers assigned to 

properties managed by the Defendant throughout the country for damages resulting from 

Defendant’s failure to comply with the minimum wage and overtime requirements of the FLSA.  

2. Plaintiff, and others similarly situated, are and were employed as “Service 

Managers” at various residential multi-family properties that are managed by the Defendant.  
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These Service Managers are not managers at all; they are the individual maintenance men assigned 

to specific properties.  They are misclassified as salaried exempt workers, despite the fact that their 

work is primarily manual labor, they do not supervise any other full-time employees, and their 

primary duties do not require advanced knowledge customarily acquired through a prolonged 

course of specialized intellectual instruction.   

3. Plaintiff was employed by the Defendant from approximately August 2015 through 

December 2017.   

4. Plaintiff was solely responsible for all maintenance at the Bryson Square at City 

Park apartments, a residential multi-family property managed by the Defendant, located in Atlanta, 

Georgia, from approximately August 2015 through March 2017. 

5. Plaintiff was solely responsible for all maintenance at the Butler Brothers apartment 

building, a residential multi-family property managed by the Defendant, located in Dallas, Texas, 

from approximately March 2017 through December 2017. 

6. Service Managers such as the Plaintiff  are paid annual salaries, regardless of the 

number of hours they work per week.  They frequently work well over 40 hours/week, sometimes 

exceeding 80 hours/week.  Service Managers are not and were not compensated at a rate of one-

and-one-half times their regular hourly rate for every hour worked over forty, in violation of 29 

U.S.C. § 207. 

II.  JURISDICTION AND VENUE 

7. This Court has subject matter jurisdiction pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1331 because 

this action involves the Fair Labor Standards Act, 29 U.S.C. § 201 et seq., a federal statute.   

8. Venue is proper in this District pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1391(b) because a 

substantial part of the acts or omissions giving rise to this action occurred in this District. 
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III.  THE PARTIES 

9. Plaintiff CORLEY was at all material times one of a number of Service Managers 

employed by VILLAGE GREEN at various residential multi-family properties managed by the 

Defendant who were misclassified as exempt salaried employees, and not paid proper overtime 

wages.     Plaintiff was, at all material times, a covered, non-exempt employee of Defendant within 

the meaning of the FLSA, 29 U.S.C. §§ 203(e), (g). 

10. Defendant VILLAGE GREEN HOLDING, LLC is a foreign Limited Liability 

Company with its principal place of business in Farmington Hills, Michigan and doing business in 

Texas, which can be served with process by serving its registered agent, CT Corporation at 40600 

Ann Arbor Road E, Suite 201, Plymouth, MI 48170, or wherever it may be found. 

IV.  COVERAGE 

11. Defendant transacts business in Texas. 

12. Defendant is an enterprise engaged in commerce or in the production of goods for 

commerce within the meaning of 29 U.S.C. § 203(r) and (s).  

13. At all material times, Defendant has been an employer of the Plaintiff and numerous 

other similarly situated employees within the meaning of the FLSA, 29 U.S.C. § 203(d). 

14. Defendant had, and continues to have, an annual gross income of sales made or 

business done of not less than $500,000.  29 U.S.C. § 203(s)(1). 

15. At all material times, Plaintiff and all others similarly situated were individual non-

exempt employees of the Defendants, who are covered by the FLSA because Defendants are 

covered enterprises. 
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16. At all material times, Plaintiff and all others similarly situated were individual 

employees engaged in commerce or in the production for goods for commerce within the meaning 

of the FLSA. 

V.  FACTUAL ALLEGATIONS  

17. Plaintiff repeats and realleges all preceding paragraphs of the Complaint inclusive, 

as if fully set forth herein. 

18. Plaintiff, and others similarly situated, are and were employed as “Service 

Managers” at various residential multi-family properties that are managed by the Defendant.   

19. Plaintiff was solely responsible for all maintenance at the Bryson Square at City 

Park apartments, a residential multi-family property managed by the Defendant, located in Atlanta, 

Georgia, from approximately August 2015 through March 2017. 

20. Plaintiff was solely responsible for all maintenance at the Butler Brothers apartment 

building, a residential multi-family property managed by the Defendant, located in Dallas, Texas, 

from approximately March 2017 through December 2017. 

21. Upon information and belief, the Defendant manages properties in states 

throughout the nation, including, but not limited to: Texas, Georgia, Minnesota, Missouri, Indiana, 

Kentucky, Ohio, Pennsylvania, Maryland, Illinois, North Carolina, and South Carolina.   

22. Defendant’s employees with the title of “Service Managers”  are actually 

maintenance men.  They are misclassified as salaried exempt workers, despite the fact that their 

work is primarily manual labor, they do not supervise any other full-time employees, and their 

primary duties do not require advanced knowledge customarily acquired through a prolonged 

course of specialized intellectual instruction.   
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23. Service Managers such as the Plaintiff  are paid annual salaries, regardless of the 

number of hours they work.   

24. Service Managers frequently work well over 40 hours a week, sometimes 

exceeding 80 hours/week.   

25. Service Managers are not and were not compensated at a rate of one-and-one-half 

times their regular hourly rate for every hour worked over forty, in violation of 29 U.S.C. § 207. 

VI.  FLSA COLLECTIVE ALLEGATIONS 

26. Plaintiff repeats and realleges all preceding paragraphs of the Complaint inclusive, 

as if fully set forth herein. 

27. Plaintiff brings this collective action on behalf of himself and all similarly situated, 

non-exempt employees of Defendants pursuant to 29 U.S.C. § 216(b). 

28.  The FLSA collective is defined as:  

All Service Managers employed by the Defendant between January 22, 2015 and the 

present who were not compensated at a rate of at least one-and one-half times their 

regular hourly rate for all hours worked over forty (40) in a given workweek.  

 

29. Plaintiff and members of the proposed collective are victims of Defendant’s 

widespread, repeated, systematic, and consistent illegal policies that have resulted in violations of 

their rights under the FLSA and that have caused significant damage to Plaintiff and members of 

the proposed collective. 

30. The Defendant willfully engaged in a pattern of violating the FLSA as described in 

this Complaint in ways including, but not limited to, misclassifying Service Managers as exempt 

in order to avoid paying proper overtime compensation. 

31. Defendant’s conduct constitutes a willful violation of the FLSA within the meaning 

of 29 U.S.C. § 255. 
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32. FLSA claims may be pursued by those who opt-in to this case, pursuant to 29 

U.S.C. § 216(b). 

33. Plaintiff, individually and on behalf of other similarly-situated employees, seeks 

relief on a collective basis challenging, among other FLSA violations, Defendants’ practice of 

misclassifying Service Managers as exempt and therefore not paying said employees at a rate of 

at least one and one-half times their regular hourly rate for all hours worked in excess of 40 hours 

in a given week.   

34. The number and identity of other plaintiffs yet to opt-in and consent to be party 

plaintiffs may be determined from the records of the Defendant, and potential class members may 

be easily and quickly notified of the pendency of this action. 

35. Potential Collective Action members may be informed of the pendency of this 

collective action through direct mail, office posting, and other means.  Plaintiff is aware of current 

and former employees of Defendant that have been affected. 

36. There are questions of fact and law common to the class that predominate over any 

questions affecting only individual members.  The questions of law and fact common to the class 

arising from Defendants’ actions include, without limitation, the following: 

(a) Whether Service Managers supervised other full-time employees; 

 

(b) Whether Service Managers performed primarily manual labor; 

 

(c) Whether Service Managers primary duties required advanced knowledge 

customarily acquired through a prolonged course of specialized intellectual 

instruction; 

 

(d) Whether Service Managers were properly exempt employees under the Fair 

Labor Standards Act; 

 

(e) Whether Service Managers worked more than forty (40) hours per week; 
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(f) Whether Service Managers were compensated at one-and-one-half times 

their “regular rate” for all hours worked over forty in any and all weeks; 

 

(g) Whether Defendants’ compensation policy and practice is illegal; and 

 

(h) Whether Defendants had a policy and practice of willfully failing to 

compensate employees for all time worked, and for overtime. 

 

37. The questions set forth above predominate over any questions affecting only 

individual persons, and a collective action is superior, with respect to considerations of 

consistency, economy, efficiency, fairness, and equity, to other available methods for the fair and 

efficient adjudication of the federal law claims. 

38. The Plaintiff’s claims are typical of those of the similarly-situated employees in 

that these employees have been employed in the same or similar positions as the Plaintiff and were 

subject to the same or similar unlawful practices as the Plaintiff.  

39. A collective action is the appropriate method for the fair and efficient adjudication 

of this controversy.  The Defendants have acted or refused to act on grounds generally applicable 

to the similarly-situated current and former employees.  The presentation of separate actions by 

individual similarly-situated current or former employees could create a risk of inconsistent and 

varying adjudications, establish incompatible standards of conduct for Defendants, and/or 

substantially impair or impede the ability of Collective Action members to protect their interests.  

40. The Plaintiff is an adequate representative of similarly-situated current and former 

employees because he is a former employee of the same entity and his interests do not conflict 

with the interests of the other similarly-situated current and former employees he seeks to 

represent.  The Plaintiff worked for the Defendants and worked the hours which are the subject of 

this complaint, he was improperly classified as an exempt employee in the manner alleged herein, 

he was not paid proper overtime for all hours worked over 40 for each workweek, and he further 
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is personally aware of the facts underlying this matter. The interests of the members of the class 

of employees will be fairly and adequately protected by the Plaintiff and his undersigned counsel.  

41. Maintenance of this action as a collective action is a fair and efficient method for 

the adjudication of this controversy.  It would be impracticable and undesirable for each member 

of the collective action who suffered harm to bring a separate action.  In addition, the maintenance 

of separate actions would place a substantial and unnecessary burden on the courts and could result 

in inconsistent adjudications.  On the other hand, a single collective action can determine, with 

judicial economy, the rights of all collective action members. 

VIII.  COUNT I 

(Violation of FLSA, 29 U.S.C. § 207) 

 

42. Plaintiff repeats and realleges all preceding paragraphs of the Complaint inclusive, 

as if fully set forth herein. 

43. At all material times, Defendants, as more fully set forth above, misclassified 

Plaintiff, and other Service Managers, as exempt, salaried employees, and required and/or 

permitted them to work in excess of forty (40) hours per week, but refused to compensate them for 

all such hours at a rate of one-and-one half times his regular hourly rate.   

44. Such conduct by Defendants was a violation of the FLSA which requires non-

exempt employees to be compensated for their overtime work at a rate of at least one and one-half 

times their regular hourly rate.  See 29 U.S.C. § 207(a). 

45. Accordingly, Plaintiff and all persons similarly-situated have been deprived of 

overtime compensation in amounts to be determined at trial. 

46. Further, Plaintiff and all persons similarly-situated are entitled to recovery of 

liquidated damages, and other fees and expenses including, without limitation, costs of court, 

expenses, and attorneys’ fees.  See 29 U.S.C. § 216(b). 
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47. Finally, the claims in the action are subject to a three-year statute of limitations as 

opposed to two because the violations of the FLSA by the Defendant were willful.  Specifically, 

the Defendants had actual knowledge of the FLSA and knew that the Plaintiffs are and were truly 

non-exempt employees and are therefore entitled to overtime compensation at a rate of at least 

one-and-one-half times their regular hourly rate for all hours worked beyond forty (40) per week.  

29 U.S.C. § 255. 

PRAYER FOR RELIEF 

 

(a) at the earliest possible time, issue an Order allowing Notice or issue such Court-

supervised Notice to all similarly-situated current and former employees of 

Defendants, as described above, of this action and their rights to participate in this 

action. Such Notice shall inform all similarly-situated current and qualified former 

employees of the pendency of this action, the nature of this action, and of their right 

to “opt in” to this action if they did not receive proper overtime compensation for 

hours worked in excess of forty (40) in a week; 

 

(b) issue an Order directing and requiring Defendants to pay Plaintiff and all other 

similarly-situated employees’ damages in the form of reimbursement for unpaid 

premium overtime wages (past and future) for all time spent performing 

compensable work for which they were not paid pursuant to the rate provided by 

the FLSA; 

 

(c) issue an Order directing and requiring Defendants to pay Plaintiff and all other 

similarly-situated employees liquidated damages pursuant to the FLSA in an 

amount equal to, and in addition to, the amount of overtime compensation owed to 

them; 

 

(d) issue an Order directing and requiring Defendants to reimburse Plaintiff and other 

similarly-situated employees for the costs of court, expenses, and attorneys’ fees 

expended in the course of litigating this action, with pre-judgment and post-

judgment interest;  

 

(e) issue an Order directing and requiring Defendants to pay Plaintiff an incentive 

award for the time spent pursuing the instant lawsuit; 

 

(f) issue an Order declaring Defendants’ pay practices to be illegal and directing 

Defendant to comply with the FLSA;  

 

(g) issue an Order for injunctive relief ordering the Defendants to end all of the illegal 

wage practices alleged herein pursuant to the FLSA; and 

                                                                                         
 Case 3:18-cv-00157-B   Document 1   Filed 01/22/18    Page 9 of 10   PageID 9



10 

 

(h) provide Plaintiff and all other similarly-situated employees with such other and 

further relief as the Court deems just and proper.  

 

DEMAND FOR JURY TRIAL 

 Plaintiff hereby requests trial by jury of all issues triable by jury under Texas and Federal 

law.  

Respectfully submitted, 

 

/s/ Charles W. Branham, III  

Charles W. Branham, III (TX 24012323) 

Rachel C. Moussa (TX 24097488) 

DEAN OMAR & BRANHAM, LLP 

302 N. Market Street, Suite 300 

Dallas, TX 75202 

214-722-5990 

214-722-5991 (fax) 

tbranham@dobllp.com  

rmoussa@dobllp.com 

 

ATTORNEYS FOR PLAINTIFF 
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